2011

# Kelly Robbennolt v. State of Utah: Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

## **JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT**

Appellant/Defendant appeals from a conviction for forgery, a third degree felony, in violation of Utah Code Ann. § 76-6-501(1)-(4). This Court has jurisdiction under Utah Code Ann. § 78A-4-103(2)(e) (West 2009).

## **STATEMENT OF ISSUES AND STANDARDS OF REVIEW**

1. Should this Court reverse the trial court's conclusion of law that the Appellant/Defendant was guilty of all the elements of forgery when one element was missing by the court's own declaration—that his purpose in committing the forgery was to do the right thing, which purpose is contrary to forgery's element to defraud.

*Standard of Review.* This Court will review this issue under the correctness standard for legal error committed by the trial court in its use of fixed principles and rules of law, determining whether the trial court incorrectly selected, interpreted or applied the law. See State v. Pena, 869 P.2d 932, 936 (Utah 1994). It gives no deference to the trial court's conclusions of law.

2. Should this Court reverse the trial court's finding that the Appellant/Defendant lacked authority to use Mr. Scott Abbott's name when he had given prior, written authorization to use his name in the way the Appellant/Defendant used it?

*Standard of Review.* This Court will review this issue under the clearly erroneous standard to determine whether the marshaled evidence fails to support the findings while viewed in a light most favorable to the trial court's findings. See State v. Pena, 869 P.2d 932, 935-36 (Utah 1994) (clearly erroneous standard of review); Ong Int'l (U.S.A.), Inc.

v. 11th Ave. Corp., 850 P.2d 447, 457 (Utah 1993) (marshaling requirement); Johnson v. Higley, 977 P.2d 1209, 1217 (Utah Ct. App. 1999).

3. Should this Court reverse the trial court's finding that the Appellant/Defendant lacked authority to correct deed of trust errors when Mr. Scott Abbott provided him with the pre-signed and notarized deeds of trust for this very purpose and did not finally revoke in writing the authority to use them until a year after the alleged forgery of the partial deed of trust?

*Standard of Review.* This Court will review this issue under the clearly erroneous standard to determine whether the marshaled evidence fails to support the findings while viewed in a light most favorable to the trial court's findings. See State v. Pena, 869 P.2d 932, 935-36 (Utah 1994) (clearly erroneous standard of review); Ong Int'l (U.S.A.), Inc. v. 11th Ave. Corp., 850 P.2d 447, 457 (Utah 1993) (marshaling requirement); Johnson v. Higley, 977 P.2d 1209, 1217 (Utah Ct. App. 1999).

## **CONSTITUTIONAL PROVISIONS, STATUTES, AND RULES**

According to the forgery law, found in Utah Code Ann. § 76-6-501(1)-(4):

(1) As used in this section, "writing" includes printing, electronic storage or transmission, or any other method of recording valuable information including forms such as: (a) checks, tokens, stamps, seals, credit cards, badges, trademarks, money, and any other symbols of value, right, privilege, or identification; (b) a security, revenue stamp, or any other instrument or writing issued by a government or any agency; or (c) a check, an issue of stocks, bonds, or any other instrument or writing representing an interest in or claim against property, or a pecuniary interest in or claim against any person or enterprise.

(2) A person is guilty of forgery if, with purpose to defraud anyone, or with knowledge that he is facilitating a fraud to be perpetrated by anyone, he: (a)



alters any writing of another without his authority or utters the altered writing; or (b) makes, completes, executes, authenticates, issues, transfers, publishes, or utters any writing so that the writing or the making, completion, execution, authentication, issuance, transference, publication, or utterance: (i) purports to be the act of another, whether the person is existent or nonexistent; (ii) purports to be an act on behalf of another party with the authority of that other party; or (iii) purports to have been executed at a time or place or in a numbered sequence other than was in fact the case, or to be a copy of an original when an original did not exist.

(3) It is not a defense to a charge of forgery under Subsection (2)(b)(ii) if an actor signs his own name to the writing if the actor does not have authority to make, complete, execute, authenticate, issue, transfer, publish, or utter the writing on behalf of the party for whom the actor purports to act.

(4) Forgery is a third degree felony.

### **STATEMENT OF CASE**

The State charged Appellant/Defendant by information with forgery, a third degree felony. R001. At a bench trial, the judge found him guilty. R069.

### **STATEMENT OF FACTS**

1. On February 23, 2011, the district court held a bench trial in this criminal forgery matter and found the Defendant guilty. R065-071.
2. When finding guilt, the trial court stated, "I think he was trying to do the right thing," (R110:223, lines 18-19) but found conclusively that what he did was "in accordance with what the elements are of the charge." R110:223, line 20-21.
3. In its minutes, the Court stated, "The court finds that Mr. Robbennolt had no authority to use Mr. Abbott's signature when he did and therefore, finds the defendant guilty of count 1." R069-071. Emphasis added.

4. Testimony at the preliminary hearing and at trial from Mr. Abbott revealed that he did not give the Appellant/Defendant explicit, verbal authority to use his signature on the partial deed of trust delivered to Mr. Mangum. R109:13, lines 21-22, R109:16, lines 10-11, R110.
5. Evidence admitted at trial showed written authority from Mr. Abbott for the Appellant/Defendant to act in his behalf for the company in managing the day-to-day company projects. R111: “Keystone Restructuring Agreement-A,” Ex. 1, p. 5, §5.1.
6. This management also included “balanced risk management.” R111: KRAA, Ex. 1, p. 5, §5.1.
7. The management included the highest duty: “to lead, operate, and manage Keystone to the best interest of Keystone.” R111: KRAA, Ex. 1, p. 5, §5.1.
8. Managing the operations of Keystone involved executing and delivering “all documents” that “may be reasonably necessary to effectuate the provisions of this Agreement-A.” R111: “Stocks Purchase Agreement-B” (SPAB), Ex. 2, pp.5-6, §2 (“Agreement-A to Perform Necessary Acts”).
9. One of the day-to-day company projects that the Appellant/Defendant was managing involved the master deed of trust on the Townsend, Montana property. R111: KRAA, Ex. 2, pp.3-4, §2 (“Existing Keystone Projects”).
10. The Townsend, Montana property master deed of trust was a Keystone asset, not an Abbott-owned asset, although it was titled in Mr. Abbott’s name. R111: KRAA, Ex. 1, pp.3-4, §2 (“Existing Keystone Projects”).

11. Mr. Mangum, the victim of the alleged forgery, entered into an investment contract which mandated that his investment “shall” be secured by a partial deed of trust. R111: “JR Partnership Agreement,” Ex.3, p.4, §5(“Security”).
12. The partial deed of trust was to the master deed of trust on the Townsend, Montana property. R109:4, lines 12-13, R111: Ex. A, p.1.
13. The Appellant/Defendant and Mr. Mangum understood that Mr. Mangum was owed a partial deed of trust. R109:4-5, R109:6, line 4.
14. As security for Mr. Mangum’s investment, the partial deed of trust was not delivered to him. R109:4, lines 18-19.
15. When Mr. Mangum told the Appellant/Defendant of the error, the Appellant/Defendant sought to correct the deficiency by delivering a partial deed of trust to Mr. Mangum on the Keystone asset—the master deed of trust on the Townsend, Montana property. R109:5, lines 3-21.
16. Mr. Mangum believed that he immediately recognized the partial deed of trust as a forgery because the date on the deed preceded his request and it had Mr. Abbott’s name on it. R109:5, lines 15-25,
17. Mr. Mangum spoke to Mr. Abbott about whether he signed the particular, partial deed of trust he had been given. R109:6, lines 17-25, R109:7, lines 1-3.
18. Mr. Abbott denied signing the notarized, partial deed of trust that the Appellant/Defendant had delivered to Mr. Mangum. R109:6, lines 17-25, R109:7, lines 1-3, R109:22-23.

19. The notarized, partial deed of trust, however, came from the blank, pre-signed, and already notarized deeds of trust that Mr. Abbott had given in 2007 to the Appellant/Defendant to use at the outset of managing Keystone to correct deed of trust errors. R109:16, lines 19-24, R109:18, lines 3-4, R109:20, lines 7-8, 20-21.
20. Although the two had significant disagreements about the management of Keystone and other personal problems before 2009 (R109:13, lines 3-6), Mr. Abbott never withdrew the authority in writing he had given to the Appellant/Defendant to use the notarized deeds of trust until 2010. R111: “Due Diligence & Evidence Agreement,” Ex. 15, p.2, #6, R110.
21. The alleged forgery using the pre-signed and notarized deed previously given to him occurred in 2009. R109:5, lines 9-12, R109:21, lines 16-18.
22. The trial court judge found that the Appellant/Defendant was trying to do the right thing by delivering the partial deed of trust to Mr. Mangum. R067-069: “SENTENCE, JUDGMENT, COMMITMENT”; R110:223, lines 18-19 “TRANSCRIPT for hearing 2-23-2011.”

### **SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT**

As a matter of law, the forgery conviction must be reversed for legal error because the element of intent to defraud was not found. The trial court, in fact, found the opposite. It found the Appellant/Defendant was trying to do the right thing, which is completely counter to the intent to trick, deceive, or defraud anyone.

From an evidentiary perspective, the trial court was clearly erroneous in its finding of no authority to sign. Substantial reasons existed to doubt the lack of authority. Although Mr. Scott Abbott verbally claimed at trial that he did not give specific authorization for the Appellant/Defendant to use his signature for the partial deed of trust and that the two had major disagreements about Keystone before 2009, the written evidence shows he contractually gave the Appellant/Defendant that authority by 2008, if not in 2007. The authority to use Mr. Scott Abbott's name in behalf of their joint-business lasted until it was contractually signed away in its entirety in 2010, covering the 2009 time period in which the alleged forgery occurred.

The written evidence also shows that by giving the Appellant/Defendant pre-signed deeds of trust in 2007, Mr. Scott Abbott empowered the Appellant/Defendant to correct any deed of trust errors. Correcting such errors was consistent with the contractual authority Mr. Abbott gave him to do, which authority to use the pre-signed deeds of trust lasted until 2010 when it was contractually disaffirmed in writing and signed by Mr. Abbott.

From 2007 to 2010, therefore, the Appellant/Defendant had (1) written authorization during the time of the alleged forgery to use Mr. Abbott's signature for the day-to-day operations of their joint company and he had (2) the intention to do what was right in using Mr. Abbott's name. On the basis of written authority and the basis of proper intent, the conviction for forgery must be set aside.

## **ARGUMENT**

### **I.**

#### **THERE CAN BE NO CONVICTION FOR FORGERY BECAUSE THE DISTRICT COURT DID NOT FIND ONE OF THE ESSENTIAL ELEMENTS: INTENT TO DEFRAUD**

According to Utah's statute on forgery, a "person is guilty of forgery if" he does so "with purpose to defraud anyone." U.C.A. § 76-6-501(1)-(4). The Utah Supreme Court stated specifically that "[s]igning another's name may be no crime, but doing so with intent to defraud makes the act forgery. In these and numerous other crimes a particular purpose, motive of intent[,] is a necessary element within the meaning of the statute." State v. Turner, 282 P. 2d 1045 (Utah 1955) (citations and quotations omitted); see also State v. Winward, 909 P. 2d 909, 912 (Utah Ct. App. 1995) ("To commit forgery, one must possess the specific intent to defraud 'anyone' [or have knowledge that he is facilitating a fraud] Utah Code Ann. § 76-6-501 (1995). See *State v. Turner*, 3 Utah 2d 285, 288, 282 P.2d 1045, 1047 (1955) (Crockett, J., concurring)."). The intent, which is a necessary element of forgery, must be nothing short of the intent to defraud.

The State's Exhibit A is a "Partial Assignment of Deed of Trust," purportedly from Mr. Scott Abbott to Mr. William Brent Mangum. R111: State's Ex. A, p.1. The subject property is in a master deed of trust on property located in "Townsend,...Montana." Id. The Appellant/Defendant was found guilty of forging this document. R069-071: "SENTENCE, JUDGMENT, COMMITMENT"; R110: "TRANSCRIPT for hearing 2-23-2011."

In contradiction to its conclusionary statement that “he was trying to defraud in accordance with what the elements are of the charge” (R069-071:“SENTENCE, JUDGMENT, COMMITMENT”; R110:223, lines 20-21, the district court failed to find any facts of fraud in its judgment for forgery. For example, it did not find any facts from which an inference of fraud could be made—no facts that the Appellant/Defendant would benefit from the transaction at the cost of someone else, no facts showing any reason the Appellant/Defendant may have had to defraud the alleged victim, Mr. Mangum, and, outside of their litigious relationship, the court found no facts showing how this transaction would be fraudulent or detrimental in any way to Mr. Abbott. The trial court simply found “no authority to sign.” Id. In fact, it stated, “And, again, it seems to me that Mr. Robbennolt was trying to do what he could to make things right....I think he was trying to do the right thing.” R110:223, lines 12-14, 18-19. Emphasis added. The trial court found that the Appellant/Defendant’s intention was the opposite of one to defraud; it found that his intent or purpose was to do the right thing. This kind of intent or purpose could not be more contrary to the intent to defraud.

After an analysis of the facts, the trial court came to a summation. The sequence of concepts in the summation is significant. First, it spoke about (1) the lack of authority and then second, it spoke of (2) the intent involved, which are the two major elements of forgery. It explained as follows in the sequence of concepts or elements: “Why didn’t the Defendnat Mr. Robbennolt sign his own name? Because he couldn’t. He needed Mr. Abbott’s signature. [1] That authority was not given. [2] And again it seems to me that

Mr. Robbennolt was trying to do what he could to make things right....I think he was trying to do the right thing.” R110:223, lines 12-14, 18-19. Numbers added. The concepts expressed in sequence here show that the Appellant/Defendant had no authority to sign, but that he was trying to do the right thing in what he did.

A reading of the entire judgment reveals that having “no authority to sign” (R110:222, lines 9-10) was the only element the court actually analyzed in its determination as to whether the Appellant/Defendant committed forgery. See R110:223, lines 1-8; R110:223, lines 9-12; R110:223, lines 19-20.

In marshaling the evidence, the Appellant/Defendant notes that the trial court began to analyze the facts for fraud. It stated, “The question is did he do that to defraud? Was his purpose to defraud? And so I’ve set forth some things here that I want to mention.” R110:221, lines 13-15. Then, instead of directing its findings to the facts that show the Defendant’s intent, it focused on the witnesses: “Credibility of the witnesses is always at issue in these types of cases....It’s clear to me that all parties were credible in, in what they were trying to relate to the Court.” R110:221, lines 16-17, 21-23. Witnesses, however, cannot speculate as to the intent of a defendant’s mind; therefore, this focus on the credibility of witnesses does nothing to explore the question of whether the Defendant had in his mind to defraud anyone.

Next, the court went on to discuss what it believed was the underlying subject: “money, money, money is what we’re dealing with here. That’s the ultimate cause of what’s going on.” As stated, this acknowledgment about money does nothing to



enlighten us on the Appellant/Defendant's intentions. If evidence had suggested that the Appellant/Defendant would have gained money through this alleged forgery, then that could have helped, but the facts never established how the Appellant/Defendant would have profited or that he did profit from the alleged forgery here. There was no evidence. The initial investment money for the partial deed of trust did not pass through his hands. R109:7-8, lines 21-25, 1-2. The court's general reference to money, without any specific application, is simply a complaint that if there had been no money to purchase anything, then this problem would never have happened.

The court next stated, "Trust, trust, trust." This general reference to trust, however, was not applied to any specific person or set of facts. Other than the accusation of forgery, there were no facts or evidence suggesting the Appellant/Defendant had broken any specific trust. Immediately following this mention of trust, though, the court held, "the Court does find that Mr. Robbennolt had no authority to sign on Mr. Abbott's behalf." Simply having no authority to use another's signature is insufficient for forgery because:

[T]he law does not conclusively presume that because a person signed the name of another a forgery has occurred. The act of signing another's name without permission does not constitute forgery unless it was done with the intent to defraud [or with knowledge that he is facilitating a fraud]. Accordingly, to sustain a conviction for forgery, there must be a sufficient connection between the act of forgery and the intent to defraud. In establishing the nexus between the intent and the act, the law can presume the intention so far as realized in the act, but not an intention beyond what was so realized. Moreover, even if a defendant possesses both an intent to defraud and commits the act of signing another's name without authority, a forgery conviction cannot be sustained unless the act was done in furtherance of the intention [or with knowledge that he is facilitating a

fraud]. Stated another way, a defendant who has signed another's name without permission, while possessing an intent to defraud that is completely unrelated to the unauthorized endorsement, has not committed forgery.

State v. Winward, 909 P. 2d 909, 912-13 (Utah Ct. App. 1995). Citations and quotations omitted. Emphasis added.

In its analysis of the facts, the Court did not cite to any facts that would establish that the Defendant was intending to defraud; it only cited facts showing that he did not have permission to use another's name and that this was tantamount to fraud, meeting all the elements of the crime charged. R069-071: "SENTENCE, JUDGMENT, COMMITMENT"; R110:223, lines 19-21, "TRANSCRIPT for hearing 2-23-2011." This, though, is legal error.

As the law above states, the act of signing Mr. Abbott's name, by itself, does not constitute forgery, yet that is exactly what the Court found in both its unofficial minutes and official judgment: "The court finds that Mr. Robbennolt had no authority to use Mr. Abbott's signature when he did and therefore, finds the defendant guilty of count 1." R069-071; see also R110:223, lines 12-14, 18-19. ("I think he was trying to do the right thing. But it doesn't detract from the fact that no authority to sign and he was trying to defraud in accordance with what the elements are of the charge. Therefore, based upon that, the court does judge Mr. Robbennolt guilty of the crime of Forgery, a Third Degree Felony."). Even assuming the Appellant/Defendant had no authority to sign, this finding of "trying to do the right thing" (Id.) is clearly inconsistent with a finding of guilt and the intent to defraud. Accordingly, as a matter of law, the conviction for forgery and the finding of guilt must be reversed and set aside.

**II.**  
**DURING THE TIME OF THE ALLEGED FORGERY, MR. SCOTT ABBOTT  
HAD GIVEN WRITTEN AUTHORIZATION FOR THE  
APPELLANT/DEFENDANT TO USE HIS NAME FOR THE PURPOSE FOR  
WHICH HE USED IT**

As stated above, the trial court found an intent to do right, not one to defraud. The trial court also found that the Appellant/Defendant had no authority to sign. This finding, however, is contradicted by substantial evidence presented at trial.

As a part of marshaling the evidence, the Appellant/Defendant notes that the trial court mentioned a number of facts why the Appellant/Defendant did not have authority to sign for Mr. Abbott on the property in question. It began with “the fact that Mr. Abbott’s signature was needed because the property was in his name.” R110:222, lines 11-13. The court continued about Mr. Abbott, “He had to sign.” Id. at line 13. Then, discussing the Appellant/Defendant, the trial court explained that even though he was part of Keystone, “because of his history or background...[a]t least in this transaction, he wasn’t a signer. It was all in Mr. Abbott’s name.” Id. at lines 14-16. Rhetorically, the trial court then asked the next logical question, “Was there any contact made with Mr. Abbott regarding the transaction by Mr. Robbennolt? Not that I could see. He did this on his own” (R110:223, lines 1-3) without “at least ask[ing]...something” (Id. at lines 6-7) of Mr. Abbott about whether he could use his signature in this transaction.

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