2011

# State of Utah v. Kelly Robbennolt : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

## SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Defendant argues that the evidence was insufficient to support the trial court's finding that he was guilty of forgery. Defendant first argues that the trial court erroneously concluded that he acted with the purpose to defraud. Defendant second challenges the trial court's finding that he lacked authority to use Scott Abbott's signature.

This Court should not consider the merits of Defendant's claims because he inadequately briefs them. Defendant also fails to marshal the evidence. Defendant's fact statement omits most of the evidence against him. Defendant's failure to marshal continues into his argument section where he fails to mention, for example, that the scope of Abbott's permission to use his signature was limited to correcting errors in existing deeds at the time he signed them in 2007; that Abbott had ended his business relationship with Defendant *before* Defendant issued the deed of trust to Brent Mangum using Abbott's signature; and that Keystone had no contractual obligation to Mangum. Nor does Defendant mention that at the time he issued the partial deed to Mangum, his authority over the property was solely to liquidate it to recoup existing Keystone investors' losses. Defendant's briefing and marshaling failures are reasons alone to affirm his conviction.

In any event, ample evidence in the record shows that Defendant handed Mangum a document signed by Abbott, which Defendant had no authority to use, and that Defendant did so to convince Mangum that his investment was secured as promised in the investment agreement. These facts support a reasonable inference that Defendant did so to forestall Mangum from withdrawing his investment or taking legal action. The trial court could reasonably conclude from these facts that Defendant acted with the purpose to defraud Mangum.

## ARGUMENT

### THE MERITS OF DEFENDANT'S SUFFICIENCY OF THE EVIDENCE CLAIMS SHOULD NOT BE CONSIDERED; ALTERNATIVELY AMPLE EVIDENCE SUPPORTS HIS FORGERY CONVICTION

"A person is guilty of forgery if, with purpose to defraud anyone, or with knowledge that the person is facilitating a fraud to be perpetrated by anyone, the person (a) alters any writing of another without his authority or utters the altered writing; or (b) makes, completes, executes, authenticates, issues, transfers, publishes, or utters any writing so that [it] . . . purports to be the act of another; . . . [or] purports to be an act on behalf of another party with the authority of that other party." Utah Code Ann. § 76-6-501(2) (West Supp. 2011).

Defendant challenges the sufficiency of the evidence supporting his forgery conviction. In so doing, he does not dispute that he issued a partial deed of trust to which he attached a notarized signature of his former business partner, Abbott. *See* R111 (St. Ex. A). Defendant asserts only that (1) there was insufficient evidence to prove that he had no authority to use Abbott's signature and (2) the trial court "did not find . . . intent to defraud." *See Br.Aplt.* at 11.

Defendant's challenge to the sufficiency of the evidence should not be considered, first, because he fails to adequately brief his claims. Second, Defendant fails to marshal the evidence. Alternatively, ample evidence at trial proved that Defendant did not have authority to use Abbott's signature. Moreover, contrary to Defendant's claims, the trial court did find that he acted with a purpose to defraud. *See* R110:223. The evidence also amply supported that finding.

**A. Defendant inadequately briefs his claims.**

Defendant's insufficiency challenge should not be considered because it is inadequately briefed. An appellate "argument shall contain the contentions and reasons of the appellant with respect to the issues presented, including the grounds for reviewing any issue not preserved in the trial court, with citations to the authorities, statutes, and parts of the record

relied.” Utah R. App. P. 24(a)(9). Rule 24(a)(9) “requires not just bald citation to authority but development of that authority and reasoned analysis of that authority.” *State v. Thomas*, 961 P.2d 299, 305 (Utah 1998)).

Appellate courts are not depositories where appellants “may dump the burden of argument and research.” *Id.* (citations omitted). This Court, therefore, “will not address issues that are inadequately briefed.” *State v. Nielsen*, 2011 UT App 211, ¶ 5, 257 P.3d 1103 (citing *Thomas*, 961 P.2d at 304).

Defendant’s brief sets out no legal analysis to support his contention that the evidence was insufficient to support his conviction. For example, Defendant claims that the evidence “conclusively shows” that he had authority to use Abbott’s signature “during the 2009 alleged forgery.” See *Br.Aplt.* at 16. But, rather than citing authority, Defendant merely restates his trial interpretation of the evidence. See *Br.Aplt.* at 16-24; R110:196-214 (Defendant’s closing statement). Defendant also does not cite a single case to support his claim. Merely “setting forth selected facts from” trial and “making conclusory statements,” without legal analysis of those facts, does not meet the requirements of rule 24. *Angilau v. Winder*, 2011 UT 13, ¶ 28, 248 P.3d 975. This is reason alone to reject Defendant’s claim.

The trial court found Defendant “was trying to defraud” when he gave Mangum the partial deed of trust. R110:223. Yet, Defendant claims that the

trial court did not make this finding. See *Br.Aplt.* at 11. Defendant alternatively asserts that the trial court's finding is "clearly inconsistent" with its statement that Defendant was "trying to do the right thing." See *Br.Aplt.* at 15. To support this contention, Defendant cites two cases: *State v. Winward*, 909 P.2d 909, 912-13 (Utah App. 1999) and *State v. Turner*, 282 P.2d 1045, 1047 (Utah 1955). See *Br.Aplt.* at 11-15. Defendant accurately states the rule from those cases - that a forgery conviction requires a defendant to act with either a purpose to defraud or knowledge of facilitating fraud. See *id.* Yet, Defendant does not apply that rule to the facts of his case. Instead, he merely states that it would be "clearly inconsistent . . . as a matter of law" for a court to find both that a defendant "was trying to do the right thing" and had the requisite mental state to commit a forgery. See *Br.Aplt.* at 15. As stated above, this "bald citation to authority" does not meet the requirements of rule 24(a)(9).

This Court should therefore affirm.

**B. Defendant fails to marshal the evidence.**

This Court should also decline to consider the merits because Defendant fails to marshal the evidence supporting the trial court's judgment.

“When reviewing a bench trial for sufficiency of the evidence, [an appellate court] must sustain the trial court’s judgment unless it is against the clear weight of the evidence,” or if the court otherwise reaches “a definite and firm conviction that a mistake has been made.” *State v. Briggs*, 2008 UT 75, ¶ 10, 197 P.3d 628 (quoting *State v. Gordon*, 2004 UT 2, ¶ 5, 84 P.3d 1167) (internal quotations omitted). See also *State v. Stewart*, 2011 UT App 185, ¶ 6, 257 P.3d 1055.

Defendant must, therefore, “marshal all record evidence that supports” his conviction before he can attack its validity. Utah R. App. P. 24(a)(9). See also *Cache County v. Beus*, 2005 UT App 503, ¶ 11, 128 P.3d 63. Proper marshaling requires Defendant to “embrace” the position he opposes:

[Appellants] are required to temporarily remove their own prejudices and fully embrace the adversary's position; they must play the “devil's advocate.” In so doing, appellants must present the evidence in a light most favorable to the trial court and not attempt to construe the evidence in a light favorable to their case. . . . In sum, to properly marshal the evidence the challenging party must demonstrate how the court found the facts from the evidence and then explain why those findings contradict the clear weight of the evidence.

*United Park City Mines Co. v. Stichting Mayflower Mountain Fonds*, 2006 UT 35, ¶ 26, 140 P.3d 1200 (citations and internal quotations and alterations omitted). This Court may and should rely on Defendant’s failure to “perform

this critical task” to affirm the trial court. *Id.* at ¶ 27; *State v. Clark*, 2005 UT 75, ¶ 17, 124 P.3d 235.

Defendant acknowledges his duty to marshal, yet throughout his brief ignores most of the evidence against him. Defendant claims he marshals by citing to the trial court’s explanation of its judgment. *See Br.Aplt.* at 13-15, 16.

But Defendant misses the point of marshaling. Marshaling, at a minimum, requires appellants to state the facts from trial that are contrary to their position. Yet, most of the facts Defendant states throughout his brief are presented in the context most favorable to his own position. Moreover, rather than citing to the facts and evidence adduced at trial, Defendant largely cites to the evidence presented at the preliminary hearing. *See Br.Aplt.* at 6-9, 19, 21-23. When reviewing a sufficiency challenge to a verdict, this Court may consider “only the evidence presented at trial.” *See State v. Andreason*, 2001 UT App 395, ¶ 4, n.2, 38 P.3d 982 (citing cases emphasizing that sufficiency of evidence claims must be based on evidence presented at trial).

Defendant’s “tactic of simply rearguing and recharacterizing the trial court’s factual findings does not constitute marshaling.” *Clark*, 2005 UT 75, ¶ 17. Defendant cannot “shift the burden of marshaling by falsely claiming there is no evidence in support of the trial court’s findings.” *Chen v. Stewart*,

2004 UT 82, ¶ 78, 100 P.3d 1177. See also *Tanner v. Carter*, 2001 UT 18, ¶33, 20 P.3d 332 (declining to consider issue where appellant lists “only the facts that she believes contradict or undermine the district court’s ruling”).

“The purpose of this rigorous and strict requirement” is two-fold: “efficiency and fairness.” *Chen*, 2004 UT 82, ¶ 79 (citing *Oneida/SLIC v. Oneida Cold Storage & Warehouse, Inc.*, 872 P.2d 1051, 1053-54 (Utah App. 1994)) (internal citations omitted). Marshaling “promotes efficiency by avoiding ‘retrying the facts’ and by assisting the appellate court in its ‘decision-making and opinion writing.’” *Id.* Likewise, marshaling “promotes fairness by requiring that the appellants bear the expense and time of marshaling the evidence rather than putting the appellee in the ‘precarious position’ of performing the appellant’s work at ‘considerable time and expense.’” *Id.* “This deference to a trial court’s findings . . . fosters the principle that appellants rather than appellees bear the greater burden on appeal.” *Id.*

Defendant’s brief suggests that Defendant issued Mangum the partial deed of trust in the regular course of his Keystone management duties while Abbott was a partner in Keystone. See *Br.Aplt.* at 6-9, 22-24. But that account directly conflicts with the testimony at trial. See R110 *passim*. A comparison of Defendant’s facts and argument to the State’s *Statement of the Case and Facts* above readily demonstrates Defendant’s marshaling failures.

For example, Defendant does not mention, until the last section of his brief, that Mangum's contract was with American Star Lending, and not Keystone. *See Br.Aplt.* at 22-23. Even there, Defendant fails to note that he issued the partial deed of trust to Mangum only *after* Abbott had severed his business partnership with Defendant. R110:25-26; R111 (Def. Ex. 7).

Defendant concedes that he had no "explicit, verbal authority to use [Abbott's] signature on the partial deed of trust delivered to Mr. Mangum" in January, 2009. *Br.Aplt.* at 7; *see also* R110:91-92, 95. Defendant ignores, however, the evidence presented at trial that reveals he also had no written authority. Defendant then omits that his authority to use Abbott's signature was limited to correcting errors in recording Abbott related interests that existed in 2007. *See* R110:32-33, 88, 91-92. Defendant also ignores that his authority over the Montana property was merely to liquidate it to repay Abbott related Keystone investors. *See* R110:80; R111 (Def. Ex. 7).

Defendant also omits Abbott's testimony that he had not, as Defendant contends, regularly pre-authorized the use of his signature on notarized deeds. *See* R110:91-92, 164. Defendant also fails to mention that Abbott denied authorizing an interest in the Montana property for Sam Kassir/American Star Lending. R110: 83, 94, 111-12; R111 (Def. Ex. 7 p.7) (list of names with interest in the Montana property).

Defendant cites to his 2010 affirmation that he had destroyed “all known Notarized documents signed by Abbott” as proof that he had authority to use the signatures in 2009. *See Br.Aplt.* at 22. But Defendant again fails to note that Abbott entered into the agreement specifically because: (1) he had discovered Defendant had been using his signature without authority; (2) he wanted to immediately stop that unauthorized use; and (3) he wanted to clarify ownership of the Montana property so that it could be liquidated. *See* R110:35, 89-90, 111; R111 (Def. Ex. 15).

In sum, Defendant impermissibly treats the findings made by the trial court in its judgment of Defendant’s guilt as the totality of the evidence. His marshaling failure to place the trial court’s findings in context of the trial evidence alone justifies affirmance.

**C. Alternatively, ample evidence supports Defendant’s conviction.**

Even if this Court were to excuse Defendant’s briefing and marshaling failures, as explained above and more fully below, ample evidence supported Defendant’s conviction for forgery.

**1. The evidence supports the trial court’s finding that Defendant lacked authority to use Abbott’s signature.**

As stated, a forgery conviction requires using another’s name without authority to do so. *See, e.g., State v. Gonzalez*, 822 P.2d 1214, 1216 (Utah App.

1991) (quoting *State v. Collins*, 597 P.2d 1317 (Utah 1979)); Utah Code Ann. § 76-6-501 (West Supp. 2011).

Defendant claims that his authority to use Abbott's signature stemmed from his Keystone management duties. *See Br.Aplt.* at 16-21. He further claims that "the written documentation conclusively shows that his authority to use Mr. Abbott's name lasted from at least 2008 to 2010." *See Br.Aplt.* at 16.

But, as stated, the marshaled evidence contradicts that claim. To the extent Defendant asserts that permission to use Abbott's signature was inherent in his duties of managing Keystone, he ignores the well-established proposition that "one needs the authority of the person whose name is signed." *Gonzalez*, 822 P.2d at 1216 (finding defendant's belief that she had permission from third party irrelevant). It therefore does not matter whether the property belonged to Abbott or to Keystone.<sup>14</sup> What does matter is that Defendant used Abbot's signature on a deed of trust that Defendant

---

<sup>14</sup> Defendant states, for example, that he had authority to act in Keystone's "best interest" and "[i]t was in Keystone's best interest to correct a partial deed of trust error . . ." *See Br.Aplt.* at 18. But this is irrelevant to whether he had Abbott's authority to use Abbott's signature to convey an interest in the Montana property to Mangum, who was not a Keystone investor. Also, Defendant mischaracterizes the nature of his conduct. The partial deed of trust did not merely "correct a partial deed of trust error." Rather, it purported to convey an interest in property to a stranger both to Abbott and Keystone.

provided to Mangum when Abbott had not given Defendant authority to use his signature for that purpose. R110:91-92, 94, 112.

Abbott testified that he did not, as Defendant contended, regularly provide pre-notarized signatures for Defendant to use as he wished. R110:91-92. Indeed, Abbott testified that he “never gave [Defendant] permission to use those deeds of trusts to do anything other than the registration” of Abbott related investors who existed when Abbott signed the partial deeds in 2007. R110:91-92. This testimony alone—which the trial court presumably believed—was sufficient to support the trial court’s finding that Defendant lacked authority to use Abbott’s signature on the partial deed of trust.

**2. The evidence supports the trial court’s finding that Defendant acted with a purpose to defraud Mangum.**

To be guilty of forgery, a defendant must also have a “purpose to defraud” or “knowledge that the person is facilitating a fraud.” Utah Code Ann. § 76-6-501(2). *See also State v. Winward*, 909 P.2d 909, 912-13 (Utah App. 1999) (“noting forgery conviction requires “the intent to defraud and . . . the act was done in furtherance of that intention”); *State ex rel. P.S.*, 2001 UT App 305, ¶ 17, 38 P.3d 303 (finding “purpose to defraud” requires that a defendant act with “the knowledge that he is facilitating a fraud.”) (internal citations omitted).

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